
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
Before the 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
 
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 
Release No. 10612 / March 11, 2019 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File Nos. 3-19026, 3-19027, 3-19028, 3-19029, 3-19030, 3-19031, 3-19032, 3-19033, 3-19034, 
3-19035, 3-19036, 3-19037, 3-19038, 3-19039, 3-19040, 3-19041, 3-19042, 3-19043, 3-19044, 
3-19045, 3-19046, 3-19047, 3-19048, 3-19049, 3-19050, 3-19051, 3-19052, 3-19053, 3-19054, 
3-19055, 3-19056, 3-19057, 3-19058, 3-19059, 3-19060, 3-19061, 3-19062, 3-19063, 3-19064, 
3-19065, 3-19066, 3-19067, 3-19068, 3-19069, 3-19070, 3-19071, 3-19072, 3-19073, 3-19074, 
3-19075, 3-19076, 3-19077, 3-19078, 3-19079, 3-19080, 3-19081, 3-19082, 3-19083, 3-19084, 
3-19085, 3-19086, 3-19087, 3-19088, 3-19089, 3-19090, 3-19091, 3-19092, 3-19093, 3-19094, 
3-19095, 3-19096, 3-19097, 3-19098, 3-19099, 3-19100, 3-19101, 3-19102 
 
 
 
In the Matter of 
 
            
           Certain Investment  
           Advisers Participating  
           in the Share Class 
           Selection  
           Disclosure Initiative,  
            
           
            
 
Respondents. 
 

           
 
          ORDER UNDER RULES 262(b)(2),   
          405, 506(d)(2)(ii), AND 602(e) OF THE  
          SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AND RULE  
          503(b)(2) OF REGULATION      
          CROWDFUNDING GRANTING WAIVERS     
          OF THE DISQUALIFICATION     
          PROVISIONS OF RULES 262(b)(3),  
          506(d)(1)(iv), AND 602(c)(3) OF THE  
          SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, RULE  
          503(a)(4)(ii) OF REGULATION  
          CROWDFUNDING, AND GRANTING    
          WAIVERS FROM BEING INELIGIBLE  
          ISSUERS           

 
I. 

 
In February 2018, the Division of Enforcement (the “Division”) announced the Share 

Class Selection Disclosure Initiative (the “SCSD Initiative”), a self-reporting program designed 
to address potentially widespread violations of the federal securities laws resulting from 
investment advisers failing to make required disclosures relating to their selection of mutual fund 
share classes that paid the advisers (as dually registered broker-dealers) or their related entities or 
individuals a fee pursuant to Rule 12b-1 of the Investment Company Act of 1940 (“12b-1” fee) 
when a lower-cost share class for the same fund was available to clients.1   

 
                                                 
1  See Division of Enforcement, Securities and Exchange Commission, Share Class Selection Disclosure Initiative, 
(February 12, 2018), available at https://www.sec.gov/enforce/announcement/scsd-initiative. 

https://www.sec.gov/enforce/announcement/scsd-initiative
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Pursuant to the SCSD Initiative, the Division determined to recommend that the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) accept settlement offers from investment 
advisers that self-reported certain violations and that agreed to consent to certain standardized 
settlement terms. 

 
 

 
II. 

 
 The Commission has issued separate orders (“SCSD Orders”) instituting administrative 
and cease-and-desist proceedings against certain SEC-registered and state-registered investment 
advisers that self-reported in the SCSD Initiative (the “SCSD Investment Advisers”).2  These 
proceedings are consistent with the previously-announced terms of the SCSD Initiative and are 
brought pursuant to Sections 203(e) and 203(k) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 
(“Advisers Act”) for willful violations of Section 206(2) and additionally, for SEC-registered 
investment advisers, Section 207 of the Advisers Act for failure to disclose in Form ADV or 
otherwise the conflicts of interest related to (a) the receipt of 12b-1 fees, and/or (b) the selection of 
mutual fund share classes that pay such fees.  Specifically, the SCSD Investment Advisers failed 
to give their clients sufficient information so that the client could understand the conflicts of 
interest the adviser had concerning its advice about investing in the different classes of mutual 
funds and have a basis on which they could consent to or reject such conflicted transactions.3  
The SCSD Orders, which state that they are being issued pursuant to the SCSD Initiative, will 
require that all respondents cease and desist from committing or causing any violations and any 
future violations of Sections 206(2) and that Commission-registered investment advisers 
additionally cease and desist from committing or causing violations and any future violations of 
Section 207 of the Advisers Act and undertake to review and correct (if necessary) all relevant 
disclosure documents concerning mutual fund share class disclosure, among other things.  The 
SCSD Orders will trigger a number of disqualifications from exemptions available under the 
Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) for the SCSD Investment Advisers, and, for certain 
public issuers which have SCSD Investment Advisers as subsidiaries (“SCSD Issuers”), will 
make them ineligible issuers under Rule 405 of the Securities Act. 
 

III. 
 

Waivers of Disqualification Under Regulation A, Regulation D, and Regulation Crowdfunding 
 
 Rule 262(a) of Regulation A provides for disqualification from the Regulation A 
exemption from registration under the Securities Act for offerings if, among other things, the 
relevant entity is subject to a Commission order pursuant to Sections 203(e) or (f) of the 
Advisers Act that places limitations on that entity’s activities, functions, or operations.  See 17 
C.F.R. § 230.262(a)(4)(ii).  Similarly, Rules 506(d) of Regulation D and 503(a) of Regulation 

                                                 
2  The list of SCSD Investment Advisers subject to this Order is included in an Appendix to this Order. 
 
3  “12b-1 fees” are recurring fees paid by a mutual fund out of fund assets to cover distribution expenses and 
sometimes shareholder service expenses.   
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Crowdfunding provide for disqualification from the Regulation D and Regulation Crowdfunding 
exemptions from registration under the Securities Act for certain offerings if, among other 
things, the relevant entity is subject to a Commission order pursuant to Sections 203(e) or (f) of 
the Advisers Act that places limitations on that entity’s activities, functions, or operations.  See 
17 C.F.R. §§ 230.506(d)(1)(iv)(B) and 227.503(a)(4)(ii).  
 

The Commission has the authority to waive the disqualifications of Regulations A, D, 
and Crowdfunding upon a showing of good cause and without prejudice to any other action by 
the Commission, if the Commission determines that it is not necessary under the circumstances 
that an exemption be denied.  See 17 C.F.R. §§ 230.262(b)(2), 230.506(d)(2)(ii), and 
227.503(b)(2). 
 

Ineligible Issuer Waiver 
 
 Under clause (1)(vi) of the definition of ineligible issuer in Rule 405 of the Securities 
Act, an issuer becomes an ineligible issuer and thus unable to avail itself of well-known seasoned 
issuer status, if “[w]ithin the past three years (but in the case of a decree or order agreed to in a 
settlement, not before December 1, 2005), the issuer or any entity that at the time was a 
subsidiary of the issuer was made the subject of any judicial or administrative decree or order 
arising out of a governmental action that: (A) Prohibits certain conduct or activities regarding, 
including future violations of, the anti-fraud provisions of the federal securities laws . . .”  See 17 
C.F.R. §§ 230.405(1)(vi). 
 

Under the second paragraph of the definition of ineligible issuer in Rule 405 of the 
Securities Act, an issuer shall not be an ineligible issuer if the Commission determines, upon a 
showing of good cause, that it is not necessary under the circumstances that the issuer be 
considered an ineligible issuer.  See 17 C.F.R. § 230.405(2). 
 

Waiver from Regulation E Disqualification 
 

Regulation E provides an exemption from registration under the Securities Act, subject to 
certain conditions, for securities issued by certain small business investment companies and 
business development companies.  Rule 602(c)(3) makes this exemption unavailable for the 
securities of an issuer if, among other things, any investment adviser or any underwriter of the 
securities to be offered is subject to an order of the Commission entered pursuant to Section 
203(e) of the Advisers Act.  See 17 C.F.R. § 230.602(c)(3).  Rule 602(e) provides, however, that 
the disqualification shall not apply if the Commission determines, upon a showing of good cause, 
that it is not necessary under the circumstances that the exemption from registration pursuant to 
Regulation E be denied.  See 17 C.F.R. § 230.602(e).  

 
Good Cause 

 
In light of the participation of the SCSD Investment Advisers in the SCSD Initiative and 

their agreement to consent to its terms, assuming the SCSD Investment Advisers comply with 
the terms of the SCSD Orders, and in light of the benefits of the SCSD Initiative discussed 
herein, the Commission has determined that good cause exists for not denying the various 
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exemptions from registration discussed herein, and for SCSD Issuers to receive waivers from  
being ineligible issuers that results from the entry of the SCSD Orders. 
 
 
 
 

IV. 
 
 Based on the foregoing, the Commission has determined that pursuant to Rules 262(b)(2), 
506(d)(2)(ii), and 602(e) of the Securities Act, paragraph (2) of the definition of ineligible issuer 
in Rule 405 of the Securities Act, and Rule 503(b)(2) of Regulation Crowdfunding, the requisite 
showings of good cause have been made. 
 
 Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED, pursuant to Rules 262(b)(2), 506(d)(2)(ii), and 602(e) of 
the Securities Act, paragraph (2) of the definition of ineligible issuer in Rule 405 of the 
Securities Act, and Rule 503(b)(2) of Regulation Crowdfunding, that waivers from the 
application of the disqualification provisions of Rules 262(a)(4)(ii), 506(d)(1)(iv)(B), and 
602(c)(3) of the Securities Act and Rule 503(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation Crowdfunding, and waivers 
from being ineligible issuers under Rule 405 of the Securities Act, resulting from the entry of the 
SCSD Orders against the SCSD Investment Advisers are hereby granted to the SCSD Investment 
Advisers and SCSD Issuers as reflected in the attached appendices. Nothing in this Order shall 
effect any pre-existing disqualification or ineligibility under the above provisions and nothing in 
this Order shall be interpreted to waive or limit any conditions or undertakings which are in place 
as a result of any prior waiver granted to any SCSD Investment Adviser or SCSD Issuer. Failure 
to comply with terms of an SCSD Order would require us to revisit our determination that good 
cause has been shown and could constitute grounds to revoke or further condition the waiver.  
The Commission reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to revoke or further condition the 
waiver under those circumstances. 
 

Because of the unique nature of the SCSD Initiative, this Order and the circumstances 
under which it was issued shall not be relied upon by any entity that may seek a waiver in the 
future from the disqualifications discussed herein. 
 

By the Commission. 
 
 
 
      Vanessa Countryman 
      Acting Secretary 
 
 
 
Appendices: SCSD Investment Advisers  
  SCSD Issuers  
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Appendix A 
(Waivers from disqualification under Regulations A, D, E, and Crowdfunding) 

 

The SCSD Investment Advisers 

Ameritas Investment Corp. 
AXA Advisors, LLC 
BB&T Securities, LLC 
Beacon Investment Management, LLC 
Benchmark Capital Advisors, LLC 
Benjamin F. Edwards & Co., Inc. 
Blyth & Associates, Inc. 
BOK Financial Securities, Inc. 
Calton & Associates, Inc. 
Cambridge Investment Research Advisors, Inc. 
Cantella & Co., Inc. 
Client One Securities, LLC 
Coastal Investment Advisors, Inc. 
Comerica Securities, Inc. 
Commonwealth Equity Services, LLC 
CUSO Financial Services, L.P. 
D.A. Davidson & Co. 
EFG Asset Management (Americas) Corp. 
Financial Management Strategies, Inc. 
First Citizens Asset Management, Inc. 
First Citizens Investor Services, Inc. 
First Kentucky Securities Corporation 
First National Capital Markets, Inc. 
First Republic Investment Management, Inc. 
Hazlett, Burt & Watson, Inc. 
Hefren-Tillotson, Inc. 
Infinex Investments, Inc. 
Investacorp Advisory Services, Inc. 
Investmark Advisory Group, LLC 
Investment Research Corp. 
Janney Montgomery Scott, LLC 
J.J.B. Hilliard, W.L. Lyons, LLC 
Kestra Advisory Services, LLC 
Kestra Private Wealth Services, LLC 
Kovack Advisors, Inc. 
LaSalle St. Investment Advisors, LLC 
L.M. Kohn & Company 
Lockwood Advisors, Inc. 
LPL Financial, LLC 
M Holdings Securities, Inc. 
MIAI, Inc. 
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National Asset Management, Inc. 
NBC Securities, Inc. 
Next Financial Group, Inc. 
Northeast Asset Management, LLC 
Oppenheimer Asset Management, Inc. 
Oppenheimer & Co., Inc. 
Park Avenue Securities, LLC 
PlanMember Securities Corporation 
Popular Securities, LLC 
Principal Securities, Inc. 
Private Portfolio, Inc. 
ProEquities, Inc. 
Provise Management Group, LLC 
Questar Asset Management, Inc. 
Raymond James Financial Services Advisors, Inc. 
Raymond Lawrence Lent (dba The Putney Financial 
Group, Registered Investment Advisers) 
Robert W. Baird & Co., Incorporated 
Ryan Financial Advisors, Inc. 
SA Stone Investment Advisors, Inc. 
Santander Securities, LLC 
Select Money Management, Inc. 
Silversage Advisors 
Sorrento Pacific Financial, LLC 
Spire Wealth Management, LLC 
SSN Advisory, Inc. 
Stephens, Inc. 
Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated 
Summit Financial Group, Inc. 
Syndicated Capital, Inc. 
The Huntington Investment Company 
TIAA- CREF Individual & Institutional Services, 
LLC 
Transamerica Financial Advisors, Inc. 
Trustcore Financial Services, LLC 
Woodbury Financial Services, Inc. 
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Appendix B 
(Waivers from being ineligible issuers under Rule 405) 

 
The SCSD Issuers 
 
Aegon N.V. 
AXA Equitable Holdings, Inc. 
Banco Santander S.A. 
BB&T Corporation 
BOK Financial Corporation 
First Citizens Bancshares, Inc. 
First Republic Bank 
Huntington Bancshares Incorporated 
INTL FCStone, Inc. 
LPL Financial Holdings, Inc. 
Popular, Inc. 
Principal Financial Group, Inc. 
Raymond James Financial, Inc. 
Santander Holdings USA, Inc. 
Stifel Financial Corp. 
The Bank of New York Mellon Corporation 
 


